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2. View of the Soleb temple with a hippop
A G Ay aargug oo a0 (0 A0 2

Pioneers of Sudanese Nubia

Even before Egyptology was born
it was indebted to a few pioneers who,
following the Nile to south Egypt, dis-
covered most of the major antiquities
sites of Nubia and North Sudan. Moti-
vated by greed and fame to be the first
Europeans to describe the unknown
land of Kush and write its history
from original sources, they opened the
doors to a new world that remains to-
day one of the most fascinating places
on earth to do archaeology.

Toward the end of the seven-
teenth century, the first travellers
already reached Ethiopia by land
passing through the deserts of Su-
dan, but not until 1813 was the first
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account of Soleb and its region given
by the young Johann Ludwig Burck-
hardt, a Swiss explorer converted
to Islam and also known as Sheikh
Ibrahim. However, this famous dis-
coverer of Petra, soon to be the first
European to enter Mecca, travelled
on the East bank but never found a
boat to cross the Nile to visit Soleb.
His description is therefore limited,
though the temple is clearly identi-
fied as Egyptian.

Beginning in 1820, the military ex-
pedition to Sudan led by Ismail Pasha
created an opportunity to safely in-
vestigate the Nubian territory. Among
the first foreigners to make a stop in
Soleb was an American officer named

otamus

George Bethune English who made a
description of the ruins, its architec-
ture and hieroglyphic inscriptions.
But his story was almost immediately
forgotten, overshadowed by the major
publication in 1826 of Frederic Cail-
liaud’s travel to Sudan, which is now
often seen as the “first” archaeological
description of the site. As indicated
by a graffito left by Pierre Constant
Letorzec, he and Cailliaud arrived in
Soleb in January, 1821. Spending three
days working on the site, measuring
the temple, copying inscriptions and
reliefs, Cailliaud also delivered an epic
story of their camp including being
threatened at night by hippos and en-
during the howl of hyenas.
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Nineteenth century visitors

On January 22, 1821, George Wad-
dington and Barnard Hanbury, two
Englishmen, inspired to go to Nubia
after reading Burckhardt’s account,
arrived in Soleb quite irritated to have
been preceded by two weeks by the
French Cailliaud and Letorzec. But
because the report of their expedition
was promptly published in 1822, while
Cailliaud’s book was not out until
1826, they were the first to offer to a
general audience an extensive descrip-
tion of the temple and the remains of
Soleb.

On his way back to Egypt after hav-
ing failed to reach the oasis of Selima,
Cailliaud made a second stop in So-

leb where he met with Louis Maurice
Adolphe Linant de Bellefonds. Despite
the famous rivalry between the two
Frenchmen in their quests to discover
Meroe and other prestigious sites lost
in Sudan, they had dinner together that
nightonthesite. Cailliaud, who couldn’t
bear the fact that Linant de Bellefonds
was working for the rich English gen-
tleman-traveller William John Bankes,
was at the same time eager to see the
exceptional documentation gathered
by Linant de Bellefonds and particular-
ly his skilled drawings. Unfortunately,
most of it was never published, either
by Linant de Bellefonds or by Bankes
who had to leave his collection behind
in England and flee for exile in Venice.

In 1826, a second trip to Nubia brought
Linant de Bellefonds to Soleb where he
completed some drawings and noted
the quick degradation of the temple.
Most dramatically a column had fallen
down since his first visit.

In 1829, Lord Prudhoe and Major
Felix visited Soleb. They made thor-
ough copies of some of the inscriptions,
including the list of prisoners from the
hypostyle hall. With gentle diplomacy,
they sent a copy to J.-F. Champollion,
who already knew from documents re-
ceived from Cailliaud years before that
the temple belonged to the Eighteenth
Dynasty. Jean-Francois Champollion
could now ascertain it was built under
the reign of Amenhotep III.

3. View of Soleb by de Bellefonds
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Nineteenth century visitors

Earning a reputation in the erudite
circles of Europe, Soleb became a must-
see for every new traveller crossing the
second cataract of the Nile and ventur-
ing deep into Nubia. One in particular,
John Gardner Wilkinson, visited the site
several times, first meeting with Prud-
hoe and Felix to copy some of their notes
and sketches then completing the docu-
mentation on the spot. He was the first
scholar to enter the temple with a good
knowledge of hieroglyphic epigraphy
and, as such, the first able to “read” the
site and point out many of its mysteries.

After 1830, other travellers reached
Soleb, among whom were the French
Edmond de Cadalvéne and Jules Xavier
Saguez de Breuvery, the British George
Alexander Hoskins and Arthur Todd
Holroyd, the Swiss painter Charles-Ga-
briel Gleyre, and the renowned prince
Hermann Ludwig Heinrich von Piick-
ler-Muskau. But the decisive moment
remains the arrival of the Prussian ex-
pedition lead by Karl Richard Lepsius in
1844 on its way back to Egypt. In five
days the team studied the architecture,
the texts and the iconography of the
temple and, with insatiable commit-
ment to detail, provided us with the
most comprehensive documentation on
Soleb until excavations took place more
than a century later.
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First photography of Soleb

In the second half of the nineteenth
century, the dark chamber photo-
graphic camera was, for the first time,
introduced in Sudanese Nubia. Francis
Frith, an Englishrexplorer who travelled
in Egypt, Nubia and Palestine was, in
1857, the first to take a picture of So-
leb. But the new visitors who followed
did not contribute to the understanding
of the site, most of them repeating and
proliferating mistakes incurred decades
ago. Reported by Colonel William Fran-
cis Butler in a book illustrated by his
wife, the British Khartoum relief mili-
tary expedition of 1884-1885 insisted
on the near isolation of the site with no
modern constructions permitted in the
temple, contrary to common practice
in Egypt. A camp was set up in Soleb,
but, as if in ‘a campaign, many soldiers
left their names on the walls of the
temple, among which Tap, Hill, Lloyd,
Black, Bedson and Olsen are still visible
on the pylon and some columns.

Early in the twentieth century, Er-
nest Alfred: Thomson ~Wallis ‘Budge
published new photos from Soleb, tak-
en by John Winter Crowfoot during his
inspection’ of Su-
danese antiqui-
ties. But it was
in 1907, when
the: American
James: = Henry
Breasted “came
to Soleb; - that
the “first™ real
photographic
coverage of the
site was com-
pleted with
dozensof *pic-
tdres . now. - in
the . collections
of the Orien-
tal=Institute of
Chicago.
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5. The first picture of Soleb taken
by Francis Frith
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First archaeological mission

During the first half of the twen-
tieth century, Soleb remained one of
the renowned temples of Nubia, but
welcomed only rare visitors. As it be-
came easier to travel in Egypt, costly
and long-term expeditions to enter
the Middle Nile valley were not often
launched. Soleb, though appearing in a
number of publications discussing the
reign of Amenhotep III, or the question
of the Heb-Sed festival, paradoxically
became a forgotten gem of the Anglo-
Egyptian Sudan.

After independence, the first ar-
chaeological mission to" explore the
region finally arrived, starting work
on the temple on November 4, 1957.
Led by Michela Schiff Giorgini, its first
task was to disentangle the truth from
all the sources gathered by travellers in
order to build an accurate plan of the
edifice.

The first monthsin the field were also
dedicated to logistics with the initia-
tion of construction of a dig house with
storage facilities and the protection of
the site by relocating the road between
the nearby villages that originally went
through the site and the dromos. After
a general cleaning of the temple and the
exploration of the surrounding areas,
the first season ended on February 2,
1958, after the New Kingdom necropo-
lis had been discovered.
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Michela Schiff Giorgini

Michela Beomonte, an Italian born
in Padua on October 30, 1923, did clas-
sical studies in her early life before
turning to arts and music. Becoming
Michela Schiff Giorgini after marrying
a rich banker in 1946, she first enjoyed
worldly life in Paris before traveling
around the world, admiring ancient
cultures and seeking historical sites.

Falling in love with Ancient Egypt
and particularly the architecture of the
New Kingdom period marked by the
remarkable reign of Amenhotep III,
she went there several times, meeting
with scientists and dreaming of being
involved in some fieldwork.

With the financial support of her
husband and the institutional recogni-
tion of Pisa University, she organized
and led the archaeological mission to
Soleb where, from 1957 to 1977, she
spent. up to six months per year dedi-
cating her time and energy to the re-
construction and the study of one of
the most beautiful Egyptian temples of
Nubia.

Frequently presenting the results of
her researches through articles written
both in French and Italian, a first vol-
ume dedicated to the temple’s earliest
visitors:(Soleb I)was published in 1963.
In 1971, a second volume came out, but
in 1978, while preparing the core part
of the temple study, she suddenly died
in Spain from meningitis and volumes
III, TV-and V, edited by Nathalie Beaux,
would not be published until 1998,
2002 and 2003. In 2013, a final volume
of homage (Soleb VI) was edited by Na-
thalie Beaux and Nicolas Grimal, clos-
ing the series. Seen as a model of com-
mitment, the spirit of her work at Soleb
was carried on by the Giorgini Founda-
tion, established to support Egyptolo-
gists around the world in their research
and publication projects.
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The archaeological team

With little experience in archaeo-
logical fieldwork, Giorgini built a team of
skilled scientists ready to accompany her
for many seasons in Nubia. First in line
was Clement Robichon, Architect-Ar-
chaeologist and Director of Research at
the CNRS, who spent several years work-
ing on Amenhotep III edifices in Egypt
with the IFAO. Second was Jozef Jans-
sen, professor at Amsterdam University
and epigraphist. In 1960, his work was
taken over by Jean Leclant, professor of
Egyptology at the Sorbonne University.
The latter became an important asset for
the team as, for decades, he led the rise
of Nubian Studies in Europe and opened
the work of the mission to a broader
scale, including Kushite archaeology.

In 1964, the mission was reinforced
by the arrival of Denise Girardin as
a secretary. During the twenty years
of fieldwork at Soleb, many colleagues
and visitors brought their support and
expertise to the team, such as the Egyp-
tologist Jean Vercoutter, the historian
Giovanni Vantini and the photographer
Ugo Reitano.

From Soleb...

From the beginning, the work at So-
leb was divided between study, restora-
tion and survey. While the first pylon of
the temple was being consolidated, the
team installed a lifting system allowing
a closer look at the texts and decora-
tion of the walls. Loose architectural
blocks were removed from the temple,
described and organized on the floor to
facilitate a possible reconstruction. To
find the original location of hundreds
of these decorated fragments, the team
needed to understand all the different
construction phases of the building,
and continued with a number of test ex-
cavations inside and outside the temple.
Extending the plan of the site, they also
explored the relation between the main
construction and its immediate envi-
ronment including a system of docks,
basins, alleys and fortifications.

While foundations were carefully
studied, previous occupations of the
site were also documented through
burial grounds with s
the excavation of a
few graves from the
Bronze Age. Later
phases are recorded
too, in particular, re-
mains of the Meroitic
period. Surveys in
the nearby desert led
to other discoveries,
among which were a
royal game reserve,
an antique track be-
tween Soleb and the
temple of Sessebi, a
petrified wood for-
est and some rock art
in the vicinity of the
Gorgod mountains.
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...to Sedeinga

Exploring the region of Soleb since
1957, the team visited Sedeinga where
another New Kingdom temple from
Amenhotep III was built, dedicated this
time to his wife, the great queen Tiyi.
In 1963, a first survey on the site took
place with the team traveling daily the
15 km back and forth to the base camp
at Soleb. The objective was to clarify the
extensions of the archaeological area,
and have a first overview of the differ-
ent chronological periods represented.

As was already the case at Soleb,
Sedeinga appeared from the beginning
very promising for future excavations
as modern villages were far from the
ancient remains. The destruction of the
temple during what seems to have been
a massive flood was another aspect that
linked the history of both sites. Seen as
complementary to the history of Soleb,
the Sedeinga project was enthusiasti-
cally launched in early 1964, with the
opening of excavations and the con-
struction of a small dig house on the
site.

Beyond the excitement of exploring
another major site of Middle Nubia, the
team expected to rapidly find the New
Kingdom necropolis connected to the
Tiyi temple, and explain the foundation
of a second sanctuary in the region. No
one could imagine at that time that half
a century later, the location of these
graves is still te.be found...
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The Tiyi temple at Sedeinga
Because of its proximity to the ma-
jestic temple of Soleb, little attention
has been paid over time to the sanctu-
ary of Tiyi at Sedeinga, the most recent
plan available dating back to Lepsius in
the mid-nineteenth century. From what
appeared to be a mountain of scattered
blocks mostly upside down, only one
column still stood in the twentieth
century. Crowned with a typical Ha-
thoric capital, the column was poorly
preserved and the first task of the team
that arrived in 1963 was to consolidate
its base. A short section of a wall near
the column was also reinforced, mark-
ing the original level of the floor
and pointing at the huge de-
flation of the surrounding
site. During this first as-
sessment, two hundred
thirty-three blocks were
identified in the ruins,
which included a monu-
mental fragment of a
lintel depicting Tiyi as
a sphinx wearing a flat-
topped headdress. Most
of the relief decoration
is related to the figure of
Amenhotep III, clearly
establishing a link with
the main temple at




10. Workers in the Sedeinga West Cemetery
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The West Cemetery at
Sedeinga

During the first archaeological sur-
vey carried out in 1963, several burial
areas were located at Sedeinga. One of
them, lying about five hundred meters
to the west of the temple, was the first
to be investigated. Beyond what was a
vast Napatan and Meroitic necropolis,
this small group of only nine graves
was undoubtedly reserved for the local
elite. The discovery of pyramidal fu-
nerary monuments led the team to be
convinced that the small hillock would
contain the remains of the Egyptians
priests’ graves. But surface findings
were soon to prove them wrong, as they
turned out to be mostly from the Kush-
ite period.

The quality of the material recovered,
particularly some beautifully carved
Meroitic inscriptions and well-deco-
rated blocks from chapels, encouraged
the team to continue the dig. Though in
their reports it is apparent they didn’t
properly understand the chronological
sequence of the site, the discovery of
remarkable grave deposits in the cham-

bers shed light on the extraordinary po-
tential for funerary studies at Sedeinga
to the point that the work on the Egyp-
tian temple became secondary.
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Jean Leclant

If Giorgini was the heart of the mis-
sion with her passionate temper and
true love for fieldwork in Nubia, Jean
Leclant was a visionary who early on
understood the importance of conduct-
ing research in the regions to the south
of Egypt, places such as Soleb and Se-
deinga. With his insatiable curiosity for
ancient history and geography, he was
perfectly suited to explore the world
of Ancient Egypt and advance Nubian

studies. Trained as a philologist, he
never underestimated the complemen-
tary aspects of archaeology and was al-
ways willing to participate in fieldwork.
From Egypt to Ethiopia, the young
scholar led along the singular path
that would take him to the summit of
the French academic system. During
his long and fruitful career as a profes-
sor, he initiated a real dynamic around
Meroitic studies, continuing the work
at Sedeinga after the death of Giorgini.
The scientific production he left behind
is a priceless source of inspiration for
scholars, and a genuine contribution to
the history of Sudan.
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The archaeology of Soleb

Soleb is primarily known for its
temple built during the reign of Amen-
hotep III and named Khaemmaat in
ancient Egyptian literature. It is con-
sidered to be one of the major expres-
sions of the Egyptian presence in Nu-
bia at the time the region was being
integrated into the Egyptian kingdom.
Throughout the Eighteenth Dynasty,
Soleb was the town from which Kush,
one of the two regions composing the
Nubian province placed under the
authority of a Viceroy of Nubia, the
‘King’s Son of Kush’, was governed.
The area was of huge economic value,
providing gold as well as access to
other goods such as ivory, ebony and
incense that were found further south.

The New Kingdom necropolis located
a few hundred meters west of the tem-
ple accommodated priests, governors
and the rich elite who took part in the
greatness of Soleb.

Before the Egyptian conquest, Neo-
lithic and Kerma peoples left traces of
their activity. Kerma graves have sub-
sequently been unearthed by archae-
ologists. After the fall of the Egyptian
New Kingdom, it appears that the
temple had been partially destroyed
by a major flood. In all likelihood, it
was a similar event that caused signifi-
cant damage to the Sedeinga temple.
Meroitic people continued to live at
Soleb, the front room of the New King-
dom temple becoming a small sanctu-
ary. These individuals were buried in

a nearby cemetery. Some Arabic glass
vessels that were found within the
sakieh dug in the second court of the
temple testify that Soleb was occupied
at least until the Medieval period.

a2l Lo plunsd elas b all gawy diyad) ddgull
Ll ol ygdas Jlo>¥ guos dg . raesyad Sy
2ab yoiawly Liilo ss2o 0y a3 Lgaldie
sa2al) diole¥l 43,200 lglg>g lguay olgya
Q85 b polsi¥] (X80 obs g sadio pr> o]
oilo¥l pazy sle Gapall pic ad ELI3 yudy dsiyd
b Bgadl dpdlandl J3lay duspall dealasdl
O o] vy ¥l iy awzal) Sili) cliddl
gl jpunsll L) LgSauws Jb clgus gdsa

Ml azy

o2 sanindl oavs e ¥ol Cigy20 dgus 2390 o)

08yl 138 o loS GJLE) il sge
230l yeinag endll sruall 0¥l 6 clro @2
digill 58 spuall sp>gll le ALY ;ST 5o
dgpaall dgjglolya¥ly dabill ey Leies
7S50 wlgao olS Byalie diolill Bpan¥l age Jlgb
b pridhaill gas] yeied Sill GheS L8 @ Sd
idly ALl sl Al o dggill Al
dihiol] cilSy (heS Sd U p¥ly il
aJgall ;a3 LS 1gs¥ dasvad dosluaidl doyd
0 dasladl jg5unlly sugis¥] canivsg zledly cunill
ilio deany disad ddgadl diles> s2iig .wigid
geasildly 4ig S Quad S susll oy Hlie¥
lgun dolae 58 IgS)lub uill duiel) desiilly
ce2aby agadl gndl jasll Gaxdd iy
$rall geaall Jud dalail] 58 @929 L3 doyS

Jlagil a2y d0pS yulas L3¥) slole cadaSLe

19



Amenhotep III

Amenhotep III (c. 1387-1348 BC)
was the ninth king of the Egyptian Eigh-
teenth Dynasty, the son of Thutmose
IV and Mutemwiya. He was crowned,
while still a child, upon Thutmose IV’s
death. He inherited from his predeces-
sors a kingdom stretching from north-
ern Syria to the third Cataract in Su-
dan. Egypt was wealthy, peaceful and
more powerful than ever. During his
thirty-eight year reign, Amenhotep III
employed his army only once, in Nubia,
against rebellious tribes in order to pre-
serve the borders left by his ancestors.
Benefiting from his country’s prosper-
ity, this pharaoh enlarged the temple of
Karnak, built the temple of Luxor, and
erected the colossi of Memnon as well
as many other buildings in Egypt and

beyond, such as Soleb and Sedeinga in
Nubia. Amenhotep III's reign was also
marked by an extraordinary level of
artistic production, evidenced by nu-
merous statues, reliefs and other items.
Decorations display different styles,
showing an evolution throughout his
reign from the conservative representa-
tion inherited from Thutmose IV to a
more naturalistic rendering of human
form and, at the end of his life, em-
phasizing portraits depicting a much
younger pharaoh than previously. In
the last years of Amenhotep IIT’s reign,
the pharaoh was assimilated with the
sun god. This probably influenced the
son he had with Queen Tiyi who took
the name of Akhenaten and established
the worship of Aten in the aspect of a
sun disk during the Amarna period.

13. Amenhotep III and Tiyi
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15. Plan of the Soleb Temple
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Soleb temple

One of the architects of the temple
of Soleb was most probably Amenhotep
son of Hapu, who is shown repeating the
Pharaoh’s gestures during the Sed-Fes-
tival depicted in the first courtyard. The
temple was built with sandstone from
nearby quarries and its plan conforms
to the Egyptian tradition with a peri-
style court and a hypostyle hall leading
to the sanctuaries. But, as in several
other temples in Egypt, there is a sec-
ond peristyle court. Another exterior
pylon was added in front of the dromos
leading to the sacred area. This was the
gate by which one entered the temple,
at the time surrounded by a great enclo-
sure wall. The temple was dedicated to
the cult of Amun-Re residing in Soleb
and to the deified image of Amenho-
tep 111, Nebmaatre Lord of Nubia who
bears the throne name of the pharaoh.
Subsequently, the succeeding pharaoh
Akhenaten changed the dedication to
suit his own beliefs and the temple was
briefly devoted to the cult of Aten be-
fore the restoration of the worship of
Amun by Tutankhamun.
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16. Prudhoe’s lion

From the Nile to the sanctuary

Close to the Soleb temple, along
the Nile, docks allowed boats coming
from Egypt to anchor although sailing
in the region was difficult due to the
presence of rocky areas known as cata-
racts. Travelers to Nubia could choose
to journey by caravan, following trails
in the desert.

From the river to the temple, a short
path led to the Exterior Pylon mark-
ing the entrance to the sacred area.
This access to the temple was probably
guarded by a pair of lions whose heads
were turned towards visitors. As they
were removed to Gebel Barkal, their
original location is not known. Only
one refers to Amenhotep III, the sec-
ond being inscribed with the names of
Tutankhamun, his successor Ay and
later the Meroitic king Amanislo. In the
early nineteenth century, Lord Prudhoe
removed the lions from Gebel Barkal

939 al .16

and brought them to England. In 1835,
he offered them to the British Museum.
This is why these lions are also known
as the “Prudhoe lions”.

After passing between the lions,
visitors had then to follow the proces-
sional avenue (dromos) preceding the
Great Pylon. It was originally lined with
forty-four ram-headed granite sphinxes
symbolizing the god Amun-Re of Kar-
nak. A small mummiform statue of the
king was placed between each sphinx’s
paws. It is in the form of the moon god
Nebmaatre as confirmed by inscrip-
tions on the bases. Only two fragmen-
tary statues are still visible today on the
site. At least six were moved further
south to the Amun temple at Gebel
Barkal, perhaps by Piankhy, a Kushite
king who ruled Egypt and founded the
Twenty-fifth Dynasty. One of them was
removed by Lepsius and is now exhib-
ited in the Egyptian Museum of Berlin.

17. Ram statue from the dromos
of the Soleb Temple
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Sed-Festival

Past the Great Pylon at the Soleb
temple, the walls of the first courtyard
display scenes of the Sed-Festival. The
Sed-Festival, or jubilee, was intended to
renew the king’s royal powers and to re-
affirm his divine nature. This ceremony
goes back to the first kings of Egypt
and was normally celebrated during
the thirtieth year of a reign. Three
Sed-Festivals were celebrated during
Amenhotep IIT’s reign, in his thirtieth,
thirty-fourth and thirty-seventh regnal
years. Scenes related to his first jubilee
are depicted on the four internal faces
of the first courtyard of the temple
of Soleb. They illustrate the different
rituals performed by the king, proces-
sions, and offerings. The most extensive
scenes are preserved on the northern
wall and on the reverse of the pylon. A
sign representing the sky is placed over
each panel, while the lower part of the
wall features aquatic motives.

The ritual of “striking the doors” is
particularly well illustrated on six rows
framed by a crenellated enclosure wall
symbolizing the wall surrounding the
temple. The pharaoh is standing alone,
wearing a Khepresh crown and a loin-
cloth, acting as the divine heir of Amun.
He is holding a stick in his left hand and
the ceremonial Hedj-mace in his right
hand. The mace is either held horizon-
tally or strikes the doors in front of him.
On the other side of some of the doors,
the royal scribe, Amenhotep son of
Hapu, repeats the same gesture. In two
scenes, the pharaoh is escorted by Wep-
wawet, whose name means “the one
who opens the ways”, depicted as a wolf
or a jackal. Several dignitaries follow in
a procession. The pharaoh must pass at
least fifteen doors to complete the ritu-
al. Inscriptions at the top of each scene
count the number of gates.
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20. Column of the
Soleb Temple
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pharaoh.
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21. Architrave with the cartouche Neb-Maat-Re of
Amenhotep III

The hypostyle hall

While the second courtyard has been
totally destroyed, the hypostyle hall is
well preserved and most of the twenty-
four columns that were erected still
conserve their decoration. As in the first
courtyard, columns served as bases for
the architraves that supported the roof.
On the columns can be seen friezes of
foreign captives, kneeling, their arms
bound behind their backs, whose names
are inscribed in a crenellated cartouche.
They represent all the peoples who were
subjects of Egypt. Their faces show dis-
tinctive traits: details such as a beard, a
hairstyle or jewels being representative
of various ethnic groups. They are ar-
ranged according to a geographical or-
der: to the north, the towns and tribes
of Asia, to the south those of Nubia.
Though many names like Qadesh and
Naharina, are well-known from histori-
cal records, many remain unknown.
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The New Kingdom

necropolis at Soleb

The New Kingdom necropolis is lo-
cated eight hundred meters west of the
Soleb temple. Forty-seven graves were
excavated by the team led by Giorgini.
The cemetery contained the burials of
the elite of Soleb whose titles, some-
times mentioned on funerary inscrip-
tions found on the surface of the graves,
refer to religious or civil duties associ-
ated with the temple, the town and even
with the pharaoh himself. Tombs were
composed of two parts, a superstruc-

23. Plan of a New Kingdom

grave at Soleb
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ture and a substructure. First was the
monument, which included a pyramid
preceded by a chapel, sometimes with
an enclosure wall. Second was the fu-
nerary chamber, dug into the bedrock,
consisting of one or two rooms. All the
graves were heavily plundered during
Antiquity, some of them even reused
during the Meroitic period. Neverthe-
less, they still contain an important
part of the funerary deposit. Most of
the graves were collective structures
where the dead were generally laid in
an extended position, head facing West.

24. Lid from a New kingdom sarcophagus

being removed from a grave
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Their bodies were wrapped in strips,
reproducing a ritual resembling tradi-
tional Egyptian mummification. Some
were buried directly in the ground,
others in wooden coffins with an an-
thropomorphic lid and more rarely in
a stone sarcophagus. Funerary goods
consist of ornaments made of faience,
carnelian and ivory, objects from daily
life such as needles and boxes, bronze
mirrors, and ceramics. A few of the de-
ceased were accompanied by shawabti,
small figurines often made of faience,
intended to serve them in the afterlife.
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Burials

The New Kingdom necropolis was
established on a terrace where some
thirty-two older graves were dug. First
called “primitive burials”, these tombs
consisted of a simple pit dug into the
bedrock. They were ovoid, rounded or
rectangular in shape, mainly oriented
east-west. All of them
were individual burials,
the deceased being placed
in a crouched position,
lying on their side, head
facing East. Their bodies
were wrapped in a shroud,
in a mat tied with ropes,
or in skins soaked in a
bath of red ocher. Funer-
ary goods were scarce.
Only a few gazelles’ horns,
necklaces made with car-
nelian or shell beads, and
pottery were found, typi-
cal of the Kerma period.
As observed at Sai Island,
the Kerma population oc-
cupied the region prior to
the Egyptians and con-
tinued to live under their
domination.
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The Meroitic necropolis at
Soleb

Located four hundred meters to the
west of the temple, a wide Meroitic ne-
cropolis containing about six hundred
graves has been investigated by ar-
chaeologists. They excavated one hun-
dred two tombs, very similar to those
found at Sedeinga. Only one grave was
covered with a pyramidal superstruc-
ture, the base of which was made of
schist blocks. There were two different
kinds of graves: a vertical shaft lead-
ing to a lateral niche chamber, and a
sloping descendary giving access to
an axial chamber. After the deceased
was placed in the funerary chamber,
the grave was sealed with a wall built
of mud bricks or black schist slabs,
and the shaft or the descendary filled
with sand. Graves could be individual
or collective, the deceased generally
placed in an extended position, head
facing West. Funerary goods such as
pottery and personal ornaments were
often placed next to the deceased.
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27. Leather ornament from a

Meroitic burial at Soleb
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Sector West

Sedeinga: a new start

Over the last decades, excavations
have been conducted at Sedeinga un-
der the direction of Jean Leclant, Au-
dran Labrousse and Catherine Berger,
extending the work done by the first
mission originating from Soleb and pro-
viding us with large series of Kushite
funerary artefacts. In 2009, while work
in the field had stopped, a new project
was launched by Claude Rilly and Vin-
cent Francigny resuming the study on
the necropolises and exploring the sur-
rounding areas. Likewise, a program to
collect, digitize and publish the archives
was initiated.

One of the first tasks was to cre-
ate an accurate topographical map of
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the site using a new grid system, while a
complete aerial photographic coverage of
the site was also executed. In the Sector
II, where large sections of the cemetery
were left untouched, an excavation area
contiguous with the latest dig conducted
by the former team was chosen; a choice
also motivated by the high potential for
the discovery of new Meroitic texts, as
proven in the past.

Nowadays, Sedeinga hosts the larg-
est Kushite burial area of the region since
the main Meroitic cemeteries from Lower
Nubia have been flooded by the Aswan
Lake. Due to its size, many areas havenot
yet been investigated, which is one of the
reasons why a survey took place during the
first years of the project in order to map all

28. Plan of
Sedeinga
ilhy,s 28
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the other archaeological remains show-
ing, for example, the early occupation of
the site during the pre- and proto-his-
toric periods.

While an ambitious project sup-
ported by the QSAP currently plans the
complete dismantling of the New King-
dom Tiyi temple ruin and the study of
its architecture and inscriptions, a lot
more needs to be done in the future to
fully reveal the long'and complex histo-
ry of this unique site on the West bank
of the Nile.
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Tiyi

Queen Tiyi was the daughter of
Youia and Touia, courtiers who were
charged with many royal duties and
involved in many religious cults.
They were even buried in
the Valley of the Kings.
This distinct high
privilege might be
due to the fact that
they were related to
the royal family via
Mutemwiya, Amen-
hotep III's mother, and
surely because they
married their daugh-
ter to a magnanimous
pharaoh. Tiyi became
Amenhotep III's wife
before his accession
to the throne when
she was still a very
young girl. She was
the Great Royal Wife
and mother of Amenho-
tep IV, the succeeding pha-
raoh. Documentation is miss-
ing concerning her life but
she is considered as the king’s
confidant and political adviser
so she would have wielded a
great deal of power at court.
At Amenhotep III's death, she
continued to play an important
role, as she is mentioned in let-
ters sent by foreign rulers to the

new pharaoh.

Tiyi often appears at Amenho-
tep III's side on reliefs and statues
and, a privilege rarely granted to a queen
in Egypt, has a temple dedicated to herself
at Sedeinga. She also assumed the role of
the pharaoh’s divine consort in the royal
iconography, being identified with Hathor.

When she died, Akhenaten buried
her in his own grave at Amarna instead
of Amenhotep III's tomb in the Western

30. Queen Tiyi
o3 51130
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Valley. Later, her mummy joined her hus-
band in Amenhotep II's grave in the Val-
ley of the Kings where other royal mum-
mies were hidden. The mummy cache was
discovered in 1898 but the body of Tiyi,
then named the “Elder Lady”, was only
definitely identified in 2010 by means of
DNA analysis.
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34. Statue in the ruins of the temple
at Sedeinga
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32. Column of the Tiyi temple at Sedeinga
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The archaeological site of

Sedeinga 7 i*

Though the archaeological area
named Sedeinga is far from being com-
pletely surveyed, the spatial organization
of the site and its chronological frame
are well known, thanks to the combined
work of the French mission supported by
the National Corporation for- Antiqui-
ties and Museums (NCAM), the French |,
Foreign Affairs Ministry, the Sorbonne
University and the villagers of Qubbet
Selim and Nilwa.

To the east, closer to the Nile and
agriculture fields, are the remains of the
temple of Tiyi. It seems that the temple
was extended during the Twenty-fifth
Dynasty by Taharqa, and it is possible
that what was left of it during the Meroit-
ic period became a sanctuary dedicated
to the goddess Isis. To the south, at the ¢
entrance of Nilwa, medieval buildings
with stone and mud brick architecture *
are still visible near the remains of a =
church, whose columns were taken from |
the temple at a later date. -

In the middle of the site, divided.in |
three sectors by two main wadis, a v'ég_tq 7
burial ground has developed over cen- 4 *

turies. While Sectors I and II contain',]’w:","}":,‘- -3

the remains of hundreds of pyramidal
tombs from the Kushite period, #5ec-
tor III seems to have been used during
the medieval period. To the west of this
Sector III, a cemetery dating from the
Napatan period presents modest graves
that contrast with the noticeable wealth
of the population buried in Sector I and
II. To the west of the site is an isolated
group of tombs, contemporanegus with
Sector I and II, but apparently geserved
for the burial of the local elite. ’

Among the missing pieces of the puz-*
zle are the locations of the antique town .
and the New kingdom necropglis...
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Kushite necropolis

In Sector I and II of the necropolis
at Sedeinga, tombs are marked by pyra-
midal monuments organized in clusters
probably corresponding to families or
clans. Around the first edifices, usually
built at the center of a small hillock, sat-
ellite pyramids have slowly developed
and occupied all the available space.
Secondary burials as well as children’s
graves are also found around the monu-
ments, creating, over the centuries, an
impressive density of burials on rela-
tively small surfaces.

Provincial notables had their pyra-
mids built with mud bricks, while royal
monuments generally used stones. By
adopting this solar edifice, part of the
Kushite population was following royal
funerary customs, traditionally influ-
enced by Egyptian culture. But as al-
ways with Napatan and Meroitic king-
doms, the monuments present a series
of distinctive features such as an inter-
nal cupola and a variety of supporting
walls.
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39. Tombs, quarries and funerary
pyramids in Sector II
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Funerary monuments at
Sedeinga

On the east side of every funerary
pyramid, i.e., the face receiving the light
of the holy rising sun, there was a chapel
dedicated to the cult of the dead. In the
case of small provincial monuments,
however, it was often a symbolic addi-
tion made of mud bricks and too small
to host any ritual. Possibly, it was there
that the stele was placed with some oth-
er liturgical material. Sometimes a door
was added and the passage reinforced
with a lintel, a threshold and two door-
jambs. The latter could be decorated
with the representation of deities pour-
ing a libation for the dead, generally Isis
or Nephtys on the left, facing Anubis on
the right.

Near the chapel, or maybe above
it, was the Ba-statue, represented by a
bird with anthropomorphic characters.
Adapted from the Egyptian symbol of
the winged soul leaving the dead body,
it is a typical example of religious syn-
cretism in a society constantly rein-
venting its traditions.
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Cult of the dead

Funerary inscriptions play a key role
in the decipherment of the Meroitic
language as they represent an impor-
tant part of the corpus at our disposal
that increases every year. Sedeinga has
provided us with a lot of these inscrip-
tions so far, written not only on steles
and offering tables, but also on lintels
and even on one threshold. Though we
cannot always translate the entire text
as some vocabulary remains uncertain,
most of the time it is possible to learn
about the names of the deceased, their
relatives, as well as their careers in the
Meroitic administration. Usually start-
ing with an invocation to Isis and Osiris,
a set of classical benedictions such as
“May he/she drink plentiful water, May
he/she eat plentiful bread, May he/she
be served a good meal” ends the text.

In front of the chapel, located on a
small platform, the offering table was
another important tool supposed to re-
generate the deceased by receiving the
liquid of the ritual libation.

42, Stele of the prince Natamakhora
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43. Napatan offering table

Adud ASLL pudl (40 (pdfpd il 43

Inside a Meroitic grave at
Sedeinga

Graves were generally reused sev-
eral times, if not originally planned to
host more than one individual. Kush-
ite people were often buried in a pro-
tective envelope such as a shroud or a
wooden coffin. An extended position
with the head placed to the West was
common at Sedeinga, following a tradi-
tion of Egyptian origin. The dead were
dressed, wearing necklaces, bracelets,
rings and all kinds of ornaments cor-
responding to their wealth.

The funerary deposit accompany-
ing the deceased in the grave was di-
vided between objects used during
the ceremony such as libation vases or
food containers, and personal belong-
ings that could not be used any longer
in the living world.

At Sedeinga, as in most Kushite
cemeteries of Nubia, graves were heav-
ily plundered during Antiquity, leaving

only two percent of the tombs intact
when uncovered in modern times.
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45. Meroitic ceramics from Sedeinga
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Journey to the afterlife

When the funerary deposit is re-
duced to its minimum, it is often com-
posed only of a ceramic water bottle
and its cup. More than a simple reserve
placed into the grave to nourish the
dead, it should be seen as the deposit
helping the regeneration and the trans-
formation of the deceased, water being
symbolically associated with the flood
and the Osirian resurrection. Long-
necked globular bottles, often found in
the graves at Sedeinga, correspond to a
regional Meroitic production that be-
gan around the beginning of our mod-
ern era.

During the Napatan period, chil-
dren were often buried wearing neck-
laces and amulets, among which the
most common were the figure of Isis
lactans (Isis giving milk to the Horus
child) and the representation of Bes, the
protective god.
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46. Bes amulet
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Funerary deposits

At Sedeinga, in the West Cemetery,
an important series of glass objects
associated with Late Meroitic burials
from the mid-third century AD was
found in ancient Napatan vaults
reused during Late Antiquity.
Among them was a splen-
did pair of footed blue glasses
with the Greek inscription:
“Drink and you shall live”,
accompanied by painted
scenes of offerings to the god
Osiris.

Metallic vessels (copper
alloy, lead, silver and gold)
were usually associated with
ceremonies such as the liba-
tion for the dead. They were
placed into the grave as con-
secrated and magically charged
items, often wrapped in fabric. Other
religious objects were represented by
bronze figurines of Osiris, as well as in-
cense burners used during the funeral
and smashed at the entrance of the
grave.

47. Blue glass from Sedeinga
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48. Bronze figurine of Osiris
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Rescue archaeology at Sedeinga

In 2012, during the construction of
an asphalt road located 1.5 km west of
the necropolis, an unusual isolated tomb
was discovered. Dug on the east slope of
a sandstone outcrop, the grave has no su-
perstructure but presents a colossal de-
scendary of seven meters deep with finely
cut steps (most of them buried under the
modern road).

The tomb consists of two chambers
supported by square pillars, and a niche
corresponding to the entrance of a third
unfinished room. With royal architec-
tural standards resembling some graves at
Meroe and elements of dating pointing to
the second century BC, the tomb was pre-
pared for a high-ranking deceased whose
relation with the central power remains
unclear.

The discovery illustrates well the excep-
tional potential of the Soleb and Sedeinga
region for future archaeological investiga-
tions, and points at the particular story of
its people, torn between a powerful Egyp-
tian neighbour and a remote royal power.
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